
HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE

Monday, 28 January 2019 6.00 pm Committee Room 1, City 
Hall

Membership: Councillors Gary Hewson (Chair), Pat Vaughan (Vice-Chair), 
Bob Bushell, Loraine Woolley, Alan Briggs, Edmund Strengiel, 
Debbie Rousseau, Sheila Watkinson and Mick Barber

Substitute members: Councillors Biff Bean

Officers attending: Democratic Services, Chris Morton and Daren Turner

AGENDA

SECTION A Pages 

1. Confirmation of Minutes - 5 November 2018 3 - 6

2. Declarations of Interest 

Please note that, in accordance with the Members' Code of Conduct, when 
declaring interests members must disclose the existence and nature of the 
interest, and whether it is a disclosable pecuniary interest (DPI) or personal 
and/or pecuniary.

3. LTP Matters Verbal 
Report

4. Portfolio Holder for Quality Housing Annual Report 7 - 14

5. Work Programme 2018/19 15 - 18

Public Document Pack



This page is intentionally blank.



Housing Scrutiny Sub-Committee 5 November 2018

Present: Councillors Councillor Gary Hewson (in the Chair), 
Alan Briggs, Bob Bushell, Edmund Strengiel, 
Pat Vaughan and Loraine Woolley

Apologies for Absence: Debbie Rousseau

Also in Attendance: Sheila Watkinson, Mick Barber and Christine Lamming

18. Confirmation of Minutes - 10 September 2018 

RESOLVED that the minutes of the meeting held on 10 September 2018 be 
confirmed.

19. Matters Arising 

Annual Report to Tenant and Leaseholders 2017/18

The Chair advised that following the last meeting of Housing Scrutiny Sub 
Committee amendments had been made to the Annual Report to Tenants and 
Leaseholders and it had been circulated to Members again.

20. Declarations of Interest 

No declarations of interest were received.

21. Performance Monitoring Report Quarter 2 

Yvonne Fox, Assistant Director of Housing

a. presented the Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee with an end of quarter 
report on performance for the second quarter of the year (July 2018 – 
September 2018)

b. advised that of the 23 measures 15 were on or exceeding targets for the 
year and 8 had not met the targets set.

c. referred to paragraph 4 of the report and highlighted areas of good 
performance:

 Arrears as a percentage of rent debit
 Percentage of ASB cases closed that were resolved
 Percentage of all repairs carried out within time

d. further highlighted areas that had not achieved their target and explained 
the reasons for this:

 Average re-let period – General needs (excluding major works)
 Average re-let period – All dwellings (including major works)
 Percentage of offers accepted first time
 Percentage of complaints replied to in 10 working days.

e. invited committees questions and comments
3

Item No. 1



Question -  Referred to the rent arrears which currently stood at £802,050 and 
asked if the figure included any carry over from the previous year. 
Response – The total amount of rent arrears was a continuous amount, although 
the total amount of arrears had increased, the collection rate had improved.
Comment – It was encouraging to see that the number of ASB cases that had 
been closed had increased.
Response – The Council had achieved ASB Accreditation and were working 
closely with teams across the Authority to address anti-social behaviour.
Question – Why had more repairs been completed this year than last year?
Response – The repairs working group would be looking at this issue.
Comment– With the decent homes work that had been completed it was 
expected that the number of day to day repairs would reduce and requested that 
a report on this be added to the work programme.

RESOLVED that 

1. the report be noted.

2. A report on repairs be added to the work programme.

22. LTP Matters (Verbal Report)

Mick Barber, Vice-Chair of LTP, circulated a copy of the Lincoln Tenants’ Panel 
Green paper response to the committee for information. Yvonne Fox explained 
that there was currently a designated person for mediation before a tenant could 
go to the ombudsman. The government were asking if this should be removed to 
streamline the complaints procedure.

Mick Barber, Vice Chair of LTP circulated a leaflet that was available to all 
tenants regarding the new build properties on Ingleby Crescent and expressed 
concern over the cost of the rent.

Yvonne Fox, explained that all of the properties were let at an affordable rent 
which was below the average rent of private lettings. Housing benefit would cover 
the full rent or proportion of the rent to tenants who were entitled to claim it. 
Preference for the new properties was given to existing Council Tenants who 
wanted to transfer. All of the properties in that area had now been let.

23. Work Programme 2018/19 

The Chair 

a. presented the work programme for the Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee 
for 2018/19 as detailed at appendix A of the report.

b. advised that this was an opportunity for the committee to suggest other 
items to be included within the work programme.

The Chair requested that the following reports be scheduled into the work 
programme:

 Repairs
 Allocations

4



RESOLVED that 

1. The work programme be noted

2. The following reports be added to the work programme

 Repairs 
 Allocations 

5



This page is intentionally blank.



PERFORMANCE SCRUTINY COMMITTEE     24 JANUARY 2019

REPORT BY COUNCILLOR DONALD NANNESTAD, PORTFOLIO HOLDER FOR 
QUALITY HOUSING

INTRODUCTION

This is my first report as Portfolio Holder for Housing having taken office in May 2018. 
It has been all-change for housing with the previous director retiring and the 
appointment of Daren Turner who commenced work during October. In both our cases 
we have slightly different responsibilities to our predecessors. In my own case the 
Portfolio area now covers health as well as housing.

Since taking office the director and I have held a series of briefings with staff which 
has proved very informative particularly for me as it has helped me build up my 
knowledge of housing.

Housing is changing rapidly. Council housing is no longer housing of last resort and 
many private housing tenants in the city now aspire to be tenants of the City Council. 
Over the last 12 months we have added to our housing stock with the biggest increase 
in houses for at least 40 and possibly 50 years. Next year, 2020, sees the centenary 
of the first Council housing built in Lincoln and that gives us an opportunity to celebrate 
council housing and the important part it has played in the lives of many Lincoln people 
over the years.

I am looking for the department to build on the performance figures which we currently 
have achieved with the aim of reaching excellence. It should be recorded that the 
department has two nominations which have been short-listed for in the 2019 Local 
Government Chronicle (LGC) Awards. Matt Hillman, the maintenance manager, is one 
of two City Council employees short-listed for the Rising Star category. This is a 
fantastic achievement for the Council to have two of the six short-listed candidates in 
a national award. In addition our supported housing service is shortlisted in the 
Public/Public Partnerships category along with the other Lincolnshire districts which 
form the consortium which delivers the Lincolnshire County Council Wellbeing Service.

The national scene as regards social housing is also changing.  The decision of the 
Government to lift the Housing Revenue Account borrowing cap means that we can 
now start planning to add even more properties to our stock. These are much needed 
as there continues to be a housing crisis in the city. In addition the inquiry into the 
Grenfell fire is likely to result in a number of changes in social housing in the future 
and we wait to see what these will be.

Finally I would like to thank staff for their hard work over the last year sometimes in 
very challenging circumstances. Many of the performance figures are excellent and 
that is down to the effort put in by the workforce.

7

Item No. 4



HOMELESSNESS

Since April 2018, on average we have received 58.4 homelessness applications each 
month. These figures are significantly higher than the previous year due to the 
Homelessness Reduction Act changes which came into force in April 2018. Since the 
changes came into effect, we have successfully prevented 159 cases of 
homelessness and relieved 134 cases. At the end of December there were 10 cases 
in Bed and Breakfast and 8 cases in Temporary Accommodation. The average stay in 
Bed and Breakfast is 3.58 weeks against a target of 4 weeks and the average stay in 
Temporary Accommodation is 7.33 weeks against a target of 12 weeks.

Rough Sleeping has been identified as an emerging and significant issue within the 
city.  Although our official Annual Count carried out on 1 November identified 26 rough 
sleepers which was two less than the 2017 annual count. However, anecdotally we 
are aware that there have been up to 40 people sleeping rough in the city from time to 
time.

A significant amount of resources have been obtained to deal with the issues of 
homelessness in the city. 

During 2018 the City Council successfully bid for Government funding to tackle rough 
sleeping and have secured £376,747 for 2018/19 and a provisional allocation of 
£519,396 for 2019/20.  This money has been utilised to recruit a Rough Sleeping Team 
within the council. The team consists of a Co-ordinator and two Housing Solutions 
Officers, plus a specialist Mental Health Nurse and an Addiction Worker.  There is also 
an additional Street Outreach Worker based with the team at P3.  We have also set 
up access to a Day Centre at the Nomad Centre and 15 units of supported 
accommodation for those with complex needs at The Cornerhouse run by Framework 
Housing Association.

In October 2018 a further funding round was announced by Government and in 
December we were advised that we have been selected as one of only 11 successful 
bids out of over 150 submitted.  In this tranche of funding we have secured £110,438 
for 2018/19 and a further £441,750 for 2019/20 for an assessment hub, two Support 
Planners, four Support Workers and additional temporary accommodation.

Since October we have housed 17 people into supported accommodation, six into 
accommodation in the private rented sector, reconnected five people to their home 
town, and dealt with 15 people leaving either hospital or prison with no suitable 
accommodation to go to. This is an excellent example of partnership working across 
a number of agencies within the city including the YMCA, P3, Framework Housing 
Association, Addaction, Lincolnshire Partnership NHS Trust and Lincolnshire  County 
Council.

This is in addition to ACTion Lincs, the entrenched rough sleepers project for 
Lincolnshire, which has been funded under the Government Social Impact Bond. The 
City Council is now the lead authority for this project. This is a three and a half year 
programme launched in September 2017 with the intention of supporting 120 of the 
most entrenched rough sleepers using a housing first approach. 

8



Strategically we have facilitated the progress of homeless move-on accommodation 
for LEAP. The housing strategy shows a need for self-contained accommodation in 
this area. We identified a site at Gaunt Street which the Council has given approval to 
dispose to LEAP for this purpose. Planning permission has been obtained and it is 
anticipated that building work will commence shortly.

TENANCY MANAGEMENT

The roll out of Universal Credit (UC) which began in the city in April 2018 has had a 
significant impact on the level of rent arrears owed by Council tenants and by Universal 
Credit claimants in particular. Housing Officers’ workloads in dealing with UC tenants 
in rent arrears have risen proportionately, as many tenants in this situation present 
with varying levels of vulnerability and need support from our own officers and other 
agencies to have any chance of sustaining their tenancies. A challenge ahead is 
continuing to manage our rent arrear levels and achieve consistent rent collection 
despite the continued impact of the Universal Credit full service. At the end of 
December we had 973 UC claimants, of which 687 were in arrears. 47% of our total 
arrears are people claiming Universal Credit.

Tenant arrears currently stand at 2.47% (target 3.65%) with 99.83% of rent collected 
(target 98%) 

The completion and letting of new-builds on several of our estates has led to increasing 
pressures on Housing Officers some of whom have had their workloads significantly 
increased. 

It is acknowledged that more work needs to be done with applicants prior to them 
being offered a Council tenancy to ensure that they are prepared and in the best place 
to maintain their tenancy and to have effective support in place to assist them with 
this.

Tenancy Services continues to strive to maintain and improve on the high standards 
of Anti Social Behaviour (ASB) service delivery which resulted in it being awarded 
Housemark Accreditation in early 2018.  The figures to the end of quarter three 
(December 31) show that the average length of time to resolve ASB cases was 65.25 
days (target 70 days). The number of new cases that have been risk assessed is 
92.81% (target 90%). In addition 99.13% of cases that were closed were resolved 
(target 94%).

NEW BUILD/ALLOCATIONS

During 2018-19 the City Council will successfully complete 172 new Council homes. 
This is the largest increase in Council houses in Lincoln in a single year for over 40 
years. Currently 138 of these properties have been completed and let with the 
remaining due to before the end of March. Given the demand for Council housing, and 
the fact that we have been losing between 60 and 70 homes a year through Right to 
Buy, it is important that we continue to identify sites for further Council housing. During 
the year outline planning permission was granted for 325 new homes on the Queen 
Elizabeth Road site which is land behind the Views on Ermine West some of which is 

9



outside of the City Council boundary.  The current intention is that the housing on this 
site will be a mix of tenures. 

The number of live applications for Council properties currently stands at 978 which is 
a significant reduction. Some of this has been due to the number of new properties 
becoming available but the main factor is that there has been a review of the 
applications which has meant the removal of those who have shown no signs of 
activity. That means they have not logged on to the system, have not bid for any 
properties or have made no contact with the department.

The % of offers of tenancy which have been accepted first time have improved greatly 
during the year after a poor start. In April 2018, the first month of the current year, just 
61.54% of tenancy offers were accepted first time but at the end of quarter three the 
figure was 83.73% compared to a target of 85%.

The target of 90% of applications becoming live on the system within 10 working days 
is not being met. Currently work is ongoing to restructure the housing solutions team 
and I expect the performance figures to show a dramatic improvement once this is 
completed.

HOUSING IMPROVEMENT PROGRAMME

Our annual housing improvement programme this year included the following works:
kitchen and bathroom replacements, the installation of over bath showers, electrical 
improvements, roofing works, thermal comfort work, communal hard-standing 
improvements, replacement heating systems which also included a new communal 
heating system at Derek Miller Court. 

In addition work started in October to replace the fire doors and door frames of flats in 
the Council’s three multi-storey blocks and at Derek Miller Court and St Botolph’s 
Court

Currently we have 188 (0.27%) non decent properties. 167 of these are due to tenants 
refusing the proposed works, and the remaining 21 properties are contained within the 
current works programmes and will be completed over the next few months. The 
completion of these 21 properties will mean that the target of nil non-decent properties 
(excluding refusals) will be met.

HOUSING REPAIRS

The housing repairs service continues to meet, and exceed, its targets. In the 
performance figures to 31 December 2018 100% of emergency repairs were 
completed within the target time (target 99.5%); 98.51% of reactive repairs were 
completed within the time target (target 97.5%); the average end-to-end time for all 
reactive repairs was 7.41 days (target 8 days); and 96.37% of tenants were satisfied 
with repairs and maintenance (target 95%). The first time fix rate was 93.57% (target 
90%) which compares extremely well with recent years - 80.1% in 2015-16 and 86.1% 
in 2016-17.

10



The re-let time for all voids at the end of December was 28.4 days, against a target of 
25 days. The number of void properties within the process has significantly increased 
due to the New Build Project and an increased amount of evictions taking place, which 
in turn has increased the workload and pressures on all areas within voids. Receiving 
offers on available properties from applicants is a contributing factor for the delay on 
the overall void time. Work is continuing within the Housing Solutions team to remedy 
the situation. 

SUPPORTED HOUSING

Plans for an Extra Care facility on the site of De Wint Court have made considerable 
progress over the last few months. This will be our first Extra Care facility and will 
provide 70 one and two bed apartments with communal facilities including a 
restaurant, a hair salon, and a sensory garden. This was granted planning permission 
in December and we are now finalising the budget for the scheme and will be tendering 
for a delivery partner. The need for this project has been highlighted by the housing 
strategy and a which identified that Lincolnshire has the least provision in the country 
for Extra Care. This scheme has attracted funding from Homes England and 
Lincolnshire County Council

A review of our supported housing service is ongoing with consultation already having 
taken place with customers about possible changes to the way the service operates. 
The key changes proposed are to move to a more responsive mobile service and to 
upgrade the equipment on site to make best use of emerging technologies. Case 
studies are being produced to show how the changes will affect customers with 
differing support needs.

The Lincare control room is continuing to grow monitoring 6,500 customers across 
Lincolnshire with the aim that the service provided is cost effective and available to all. 
The key upcoming issues are the first inspection under the new Quality Standards 
Framework taking place during this month (January) and the development of plans to 
respond to the analogue to digital agenda due to be completed by 2025.

The percentage of alarm calls answered by the Control Centre within 60 seconds was 
99.06 (target 97.5%). The percentage of support plans reviewed for sheltered housing 
residents was 97.65% (target 95%) 

The City Council is also a key partner in the Lincolnshire Wellbeing Service which has 
been shortlisted in the Public/Public Partnerships category of 2019 LGC (Local 
Government Chronicle) awards. The contract to provide the service from 1 April 2018 
was won by a consortium of the seven Lincolnshire district councils with East Lindsey 
as the lead bidder and managers of the scheme. The City Council’s main role is in 
delivering the part of the contract which requires the wellbeing service to provide 24/7 
telecare response services to anybody in the county who has a lifeline installed 
irrespective of who provides it.

11



CONCLUSION

Vision 2020, the Council’s strategic plan, sets out a number of high level success 
outcomes for the quality housing portfolio. These include: i) Increasing the availability 
and provision of housing in Lincoln; ii) Improving the quality of both public sector and 
private sector homes; iii) Increasing the availability of supported housing for older 
people with high levels of need. This report, I believe, shows we are making significant 
progress in achieving these outcomes.

Donald Nannestad
Portfolio Holder for Quality Housing

12



1

Appendix A 

Monthly Performance Monitoring
December 2018

PI 
Number

Description Target 
Figure 

2018/19

Year to 
Date 

Previous 
Month

Year to 
Date 

Figure

Year to 
Date

Monthly 
Performance

Repairs

29 Percentage of emergency repairs 
completed within target time 99.50% 100.00% 100.00%

32 Percentage of all reactive repairs 
completed within target time 97.50% 98.51% 98.51%

33 Average end-to-end time for all reactive 
repairs (calendar days) 8 days 7.53 days 7.41 days

34 Percentage of repairs completed right 
first time 90.00% 93.49% 93.57%

37 Appointments kept as a percentage of 
appointments made 95.00% 96.67% 96.67%

41 Percentage of tenants satisfied with 
repairs and maintenance 95.00% 96.20% 96.37%

Gas Services

48 Percentage of dwellings with a valid 
gas safety certificate 99.96% 99.92% 99.93%

Investment

50
Percentage of homes that fail to meet 
the decent homes standard (excl. 
refusals)

0% 0.39% 0.27%

Control Centre

5 Percentage of alarm calls answered 
within 60 seconds 97.5% 99.07% 99.06%

7 Percentage of alarm calls answered 
within 180 seconds 99.0% 99.94% 99.94%

8 Number of new connections made 240 251 283

9 Percentage of support plans reviewed 95.00% 97.59% 97.65%

Voids

60 Average re-let time (calendar days) – 
all dwellings (exc major works) 20 days 25.30 

days 25.67 days

62 Average re-let time (calendar days) – 
all dwellings (all works) 25 days 27.28 

days 28.35 days

Allocations
85 Number of live applications No target 1478 978

85A % of offers of tenancy accepted first 
time 85% 83.61% 83.73%

86 Percentage of applications live on the 
system within 10 working days 90% 5.24% 4.62%

13



2

ASB

89 Percentage of closed ASB cases that 
were resolved 94% 99.10% 99.13%

90 Average number of days to resolve 
ASB cases 70 days 65.00 

days 65.25 days

91 Percentage of new ASB cases risk 
assessed 90.00% 93.04% 92.81%

Rents

125B
Rent collected as a proportion of rent 
owed (excluding arrears and credits 
bought fwd.)

98.00% 98.07% 99.83%

126 Current tenant arrears as a % of annual 
rent debit (exc HB adjustments) 3.65% 3.23% 2.47%

127 Current tenant arrears as a % of annual 
rent debit: Underoccupying tenants No target 2.49% 1.81%

Garages

70 Current garage arrears as a % of 
annual rent debit 2% 4.16% 1.60%

72 Percentage of garages currently let (%) 80.00% 80.63% 81.79%

Homelessness

158 Number of homelessness approaches 
in the month No target 491 526

170
Number of homelessness approaches 
resulting in successful prevention 
(excluding DHP’s)

No target 142 159

171 Number of homelessness successfully 
relieved in month No target 108 130

173 Number of households in temporary 
accommodation No target 19 18

174 Average length of stay in Bed & 
Breakfast accommodation 4 weeks

3.48 
weeks 3.58 weeks

175 Average length of stay in temporary 
accommodation

12 
weeks

6.99 
weeks 7.33 weeks

14



HOUSING SCRUTINY SUB-COMMITTEE 28 JANUARY 2019

SUBJECT: WORK PROGRAMME UPDATE 2018/19

DIRECTORATE: CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND TOWN CLERK

LEAD OFFICER: CLAIRE TURNER, DEMOCRATIC SERVICES OFFICER

1. Purpose of Report

1.1 To present Members with the work programme for 2018/19 (Appendix A).

2. Background

2.1

2.2

The draft work programme for 2018/19 is provided for information to ensure 
members are aware of the forthcoming business at future meetings of the Housing 
Scrutiny Sub Committee. The work programme is regularly updated in consultation 
with the chair of the committee and chair of Lincoln Tenants Panel.

The work programme includes those areas for scrutiny linked to the strategic 
priorities of the Council and housing matters, this was to ensure that the work of this 
committee is relevant and proportionate. 

3. Recommendation

3.1 That Members agree the work programme and recommend any necessary 
amendments.

Access to Information:
Does the report contain exempt 
information, which would prejudice the 
public interest requirement if it was 
publicised?

No

Key Decision No

Do the Exempt Information Categories 
Apply

No

Call In and Urgency: Is the decision one 
to which Rule 15 of the Scrutiny 
Procedure Rules apply?

No

Does the report contain Appendices? Yes

If Yes, how many Appendices? 1

Lead Officer: Claire Turner, Democratic Services Officer
Telephone 873619

15

Item No. 5



This page is intentionally blank.



APPENDIX A
Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee Work Programme – Timetable for 2018/19Item 

18 June 20180 Comments

Item(s) Responsible Person(s) Strategic Priority/ Comments

Quarter 4 2017/18 – Performance Summary Yvonne Fox This will be a summary report. 

Work Programme Update   Democratic Services Regular Report

13 August 2018

Item(s) Responsible Person(s) Strategic Priority/ Comments

Tenant Involvement Strategy Chris Morton

Roles and Responsibilities of Housing Officers Yvonne Fox Requested at 19th March meeting

Quarter 1 (2018/19) – Performance Report
Yvonne Fox Quarterly Report

Work Programme Update   Democratic Services Regular Report

5 November 2018 - Annual Performance

Item(s) Responsible Person(s) Strategic Priority/ Comments

Annual Performance reports on the following areas:

Quarter /2 (2018/19) – Performance and Finance Report 
Yvonne Fox Quarterly report

Work Programme Update   Democratic Services Regular Report

17



28 January 2019

Item(s) Responsible Person(s) Strategic Priority/ Comments

Portfolio Holder for Quality Housing Councillor Nannestad Annual Report

Repairs Matt Hillman Requested by the Chair

Work Programme Update Democratic Services Regular Report

18 March 2019

Item(s) Responsible Person(s) Strategic Priority/ Comments

Quarter 3 (2018/19) – Performance Report Yvonne Fox Quarterly report

Tenant Involvement Strategy  2018 - 2021 Chris Morton

LTP Annual Report Chris Morton Moved from November Meeting

Work Programme Update
   

Democratic Services Regular Report

Unscheduled Items

 Allocations

18


	Agenda
	1 Confirmation of Minutes - 5 November 2018
	4 Portfolio Holder for Quality Housing Annual Report
	Portfolio Holder for Quality Housing Annual Report - Appendix A

	5 Work Programme 2018/19
	Housing Scrutiny Sub Committee - Work Programme 2018-2019


